FILED ;

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SEP 2 1993

By\_\_\_\_\_Chief Deputy Clerk

AILEEN CAROL WUORNOS,

Appellant,

Vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632
CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS
112 Orange Avenue, Suite A
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

##

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Aileen Carol Wuornos, was the Defendant in the lower court and will be referred to in this case as Appellant or by her proper name. Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecuting authority.

The record on appeal will be referred to using the following symbols:

- "R" -- Volumes I through V, consisting of the pleadings (R1-488); the evidence (R489-652); the transcript of the hearing held on May 31, 1992, when Appellant pled to the outstanding charges (R653-747); and the May 15, 1992, sentencing hearing (R747-87).
- "T" -- Volumes VI through X, which contain the May, 1992, penalty phase, jury trial (T1-906).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 20, 1991, the State of Florida indicted Aileen Carol Wuornos, the Appellant, for the September 9, 1990, first-degree murders<sup>1</sup> and armed robberies<sup>2</sup> of Charles Humphreys and Troy Burress. (R1-2,142-43) On February 22, 1991, the State indicted Appellant for the Citrus County first-degree murder and armed robbery of David Spears. (R314-15)

On March 26, 1992, the previously appointed Office of the Public Defender, Fifth Judicial Circuit, moved to withdraw as counsel. (R247) Private counsel filed a notice of appearance, and the trial court granted the Public Defender's motion to withdraw. (R248-49,655-59) On March 31, 1992, with her new lawyer at her side, Wuornos waived all of her rights and tendered nolo contendere pleas to all three murder charges and all three armed robbery charges. (R655-746) She completed and signed a waiver of rights and plea sheet. (R250-51)

Following a plea colloquy, the Honorable Thomas D. Sawaya accepted the pleas and found Appellant's action intelligent and voluntary. (R740-41) The court also determined that a factual basis existed for the pleas. (R742) Since Wuornos received no promises or benefits in exchange for her pleas, the court concluded that Wuornos believed the pleas were in her best interest. (R742) The judge adjudicated Appellant guilty of each

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> § 782.04(1)(a)1, Fla. Stat.

<sup>9 812.13(2)(</sup>a), Fla. Stat.

and every offense. (R127-28,294-95,466-67,741)

On May 4, 1992, Wuornos waived her presence at the penalty phase which began that day. (T1-91) After jury selection, the State presented seven witnesses. (T527-645) During the testimony of David Taylor, the trial court overruled Appellant's objection. (T532) During the State's examination of David Strickland, Appellant's objection was also overruled. (T574) Similarly, the trial court overruled another objection interposed by the Appellant during the testimony of Lawrence Horzepa. (T625)

After the State rested (T645), Appellant introduced into evidence and published a videotape of the confession she made to police following her arrest. (T645-58;R550-652) The only other evidence presented by the Appellant at the penalty phase was the testimony of Arlene Pralle, Appellant's adoptive mother. (T659-708) Over Appellant's objections (T766-72,776,791,799,804), the State presented five witnesses in rebuttal (T772-810), and Appellant presented more testimony from Arlene Pralle in surrebuttal. (T813-20)

The State also introduced the notice of appeal filed by Appellant in her Volusia County case in which she had previously been sentenced to death. (T810-11) The trial court denied Appellant's request that the jury be instructed that the Volusia County convictions and death sentence are presumed to be correct on appeal. (T740-43)

Over Appellant's objection, the court instructed the jury on

witness elimination as an aggravating circumstance<sup>3</sup>. (T688-93, 712-18,731-40,756-57) Appellant also objected to the applicability of the pecuniary gain factor<sup>4</sup> as well as the "heightened premeditation" circumstance. (T744-55) Appellant also objected to the HAC<sup>6</sup> instruction that applied only to Humphreys' murder. (T755-64) The trial court overruled Appellant's objections to the instructions and read them to the jury. (T812-13,881-84)

Following deliberations, the jury returned with recommendations in each case (10-2) that Aileen Wuornos be sentenced to die in Florida's electric chair. (T900-901) On May 15, 1992, Wuornos was present when the trial court followed the jury's recommendations and sentenced her to the ultimate sanction on each of the three murders. (R747-87) The trial court entered written findings of fact in support of each death sentence. (R300-309,456-65;SR1-10) The court found four aggravating circumstances in support of the death sentences imposed for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest...§ 921.141(5)(e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain. § 921.141(5)(f), Fla. Stat.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The capital felony was a homicide and was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. § 921.141(5)(i), Fla. Stat.

The capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. § 921.141(5)(h), Fla. Stat.

murders of Troy Burress and David Spears.<sup>7</sup> (R300-304,456-60) In imposing the death sentence for the murder of Charles Humphreys, the court found the same four aggravating circumstances applicable and one additional aggravating factor.<sup>8</sup> (SR1-6) The trial court rejected all of the statutory mitigating circumstances. (R305-7,461-63;SR6-8) The court concluded that the evidence established, at best, only two nonstatutory mitigating circumstances that deserved only slight weight.<sup>9</sup> (R307-8,463-65;SR9-10) The trial court concluded that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating factors and imposed the death penalty on all three murders. This Court has jurisdiction.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The court found: (1) Prior violent felony conviction; (2) pecuniary gain; (3) witness elimination; (4) heightened premeditation.

The murder of Charles Humphreys was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Appellant presented evidence of remorse, a religious conversion, and a abusive, deprived childhood.

<sup>10</sup> Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### The Death of Charles Humphreys

Charles Humphreys' family reported him missing on September 11th. (T531-32) On September 12, 1990, two young boys riding bicycles in southwest Marion County discovered the clothed body of Charles Humphreys. (T527-30) Police responded to the area, an isolated, undeveloped subdivision on the north side of County Road 484. (T527-30) Humphreys' pockets were turned inside out. (T534-35) His wallet and car were missing. (T535) Authorities later located Humphreys' wallet and other identification fifty miles away in a remote area in Lake County, just north of the Polk County line near Highway 27. (T536-539) Police also collected a spent .22 casing at that scene. (T537-38) On September 25th, authorities found Humphreys' car with the license plate removed, parked behind an abandoned gas station on U.S. 90 at I-10. (T539-41)

An autopsy indicated that Humphreys died as a result of seven gunshot wounds. (T582-84) None of the wounds were instantly fatal, but one to the back of the head would have incapacitated Humphreys quickly. (T588-89) The various locations of the bullet wounds (one in the chest, one in the abdomen, two in the back, one in the back of the head, and two in his arm) were consistent with someone twisting and turning while either standing or lying on the ground. (T589-90) Humphreys also suffered some minor bruises and scrapes near the time of his death. (T591-93) The bruises on Humphreys' arm could have been

inflicted as much as forty-eight hours prior to his death. (T596-97)

#### The Death of Troy Burress

Troy Burress, an employee of Gilchrist Sausage Company, was last seen alive when he was driving his delivery route on July 30, 1990. Burress was reported missing the next day. (T545-46) Burress' scheduled delivery route took him through Daytona Beach and several other small communities in central Florida. He was last seen around 2:00 p.m. making a delivery at a small grocery store in Seville. (T546) Burress failed to appear at his next scheduled stop in Salt Springs. Prior to his disappearance, Burress had collected approximately \$200.00 in cash from customers along his route. (T547) Police found Burress' truck at approximately 3:00 a.m. on July 31st at the intersection of State Roads 40 and 19. (T548) The keys were missing and the primary gas tank was empty. (T549) Burress' receipts were also missing. (T549)

On August 4th, police found Burress' clothed body in a remote wooded area near a small dirt road off of State Road 19 approximately eight miles north of his truck's location. (T549-50,552) Burress had been dead approximately four to five days. (T550) Some palm fronds had been placed on and around the body. (T551) A search of the area turned up Burress' wallet, credit cards and receipts. The cash was missing. (T553-54) Burress died from two gunshot wounds, one in the middle of his chest and the second near the middle of his back. (T554-55) Police sent

the .22 projectiles recovered from Burress' body to FDLE in Tallahassee. (T555-57)

### The Death of David Spears

In June, 1990, police found the decomposed body of David Spears in a remote, wooded area in southwest Citrus County just north of the Hernando County line near Highway 19. (T564-68) A co-worker at Universal Concrete Company in Sarasota was the last person to see Spears alive on May 19th. Spears was heading back to Ocoee, Florida in Orange County. (T569)

Despite the advanced decomposition of the body, Dr. Maples, a forensic anthropologist, concluded that Spears died as a result of six gunshot wounds, two of which were possibly through the back. (T569-70) Other than a hat, Spears' body was nude when found. (T570-71) Although Spears had been paid on the day of his disappearance, authorities did not recover any personal property whatsoever. (T571) Spears' 1983 Dodge pickup was discovered parked near the entrance ramp to I-75 and County Road 318 in Marion County. A toolbox, clothing, a ceramic panther, the tag, and the keys were missing from the truck. (T571-72) The truck had a flat tire when found. (T572)

Within a few feet of Spears' body, police found a used condom and one Trojan brand wrapper. An autopsy indicated that David Spears died from multiple (at least six) gunshot wounds. (T595-96) One and possibly two of the shots were to the back. (T573) There was no way to determine whether the shots to the back were the first inflicted. (T573-74)

### Wuornos' Arrest

On December 4, 1989, police found Richard Mallory's car parked off a fire trail in Ormond Beach, Volusia County, Florida. (T599-601) Mallory's car was locked and police could not find the ignition keys. Police found some of Mallory's personal property, including his wallet and driver's license, in a small sand depression about thirty feet behind his car. (T608) Police concluded that Mallory's car had been wiped down. (T608) On December 13, 1989, police discovered Richard Mallory's body in a wooded area off of U.S. 1 near I-95, approximately five miles from his car. (T601) When found, Mallory's body was covered with carpet and other debris in an apparent attempt to hide the body. (T602) Mallory's body was clothed and already somewhat decomposed. (T602-3) Mallory's front, pants' pockets were turned out slightly. (T604)

Police arrested Aileen Wuornos in January, 1991. (T608-9)
A search of a storage unit rented by Wuornos using an alias,
turned up a camera and property belonging to Richard Mallory and
the other men. (T609-11) Police later recovered Wuornos'
corroded gun from Rose Bay, a body of brackish water located
approximately 150 yards from the motel where Wuornos had been
living. (T611-13,615) The defense stipulated that the
projectiles recovered from the bodies of Humphreys, Spears,
Burress, and Mallory were fired from Appellant's gun that was
recovered from Rose Bay. (T629)

Initially, police believed that two women may have been

involved in the killings. Wuornos voluntarily confessed to police that she alone was responsible for the men's deaths.

(T616-17) In taking sole responsibility, Wuornos cleared Tyria Moore, her lesbian lover. (T617) Although Wuornos implicated herself in a total of seven deaths, she repeatedly told police that she acted in self-defense. (T613,617-18)

### Wuornos' Confession

Authorities videotaped the entire statement that Wuornos provided on January 16th. (T616) Wuornos explained that she plied her trade as a hitchhiking prostitute for approximately eight years. (T618) Prior to questioning, authorities arranged for a lawyer from the Public Defender's Office to consult with Wuornos. While waiting for the lawyer to arrive, Ms. Wuornos ignored Investigator Horzepa's warnings and voluntarily talked about the killings before being questioned. In that preamble, Wuornos told the detectives that she acted in self-defense.

After conferring with her lawyer, Wuornos consented to questioning and maintained that she acted in self-defense. (T618-20)

Wuornos admitted that she had a problem with alcohol and was usually drunk on the days of the killings. (T620-21) Police found numerous beer cans near the spot where Richard Mallory's body was found. Investigator Horzepa primarily discussed the Richard Mallory case with Wuornos during the interview. (T622)

The area was used as a dump site and police could not determine who left the beer cans at the scene.

Wuornos told Horzepa that she and Mallory had been arguing and fighting. (T622) The shooting was precipitated by Mallory "coming at her." (T622) Ms. Wuornos expressed remorse and told Horzepa that she deserved the death penalty. (T623)

Police never located a seventh body12 connected to Ms. Shortly before her trial, Ms. Wuornos (T558) cooperated with Marion County law enforcement and volunteered to show police on a map where they might find the seventh body. (T558-59) Ms. Wuornos told police that the body might be in South Carolina and offered to drive them to it. (T559) Investigator Tilley told Ms. Wuornos that Florida authorities could not offer her any type of deal or promise her anything if the crime occurred outside the jurisdiction of Florida. (T559) Despite the potential for another murder charge, Ms. Wuornos persisted in her offer to aid police in locating the seventh body. (T560) Ms. Wuornos had previously rebuffed Investigator Tilley's attempts to enlist her aid in this regard only a week before. (T561) In an attempt to gain her cooperation, Investigator Tilley spoke with Wuornos' lawyer and her adoptive mother. (T561-62) Tilley also arranged for Wuornos' special treatment at the Marion County Jail, i.e., providing her reading material, access to the telephone, and a cup of coffee. (T562) Mitigating Evidence

Wuornos' mother abandoned Lee13 and her slightly older

<sup>12</sup> The missing body was that of Peter Siems. (T561)

Aileen Wuornos' nickname is Lee. (R660)

brother, Keith, when Lee was only six months old. (T666) The grandparents found both children in the attic covered with feces and flies. (T666) The grandparents adopted Lee and Keith. (T666) Although their grandmother wanted to care for the children, the grandfather was an alcoholic who resented and abused them. (T666-7) When drunk, the grandfather would accuse Lee of imagined transgressions. These situations usually resulted in severe beatings. (T667)

Lee's grandfather resented the financial burden of raising
Lee and her brother Keith. Lee reminded the grandfather of
Diane, Lee and Keith's biological mother and the grandfather's
daughter. Since Diane had abandoned her family, the grandfather
focused his wrath on Lee. The grandfather clearly favored his
biological children, Barry and Lori. (T669-70)

When Lee was seven, she failed to eat her baked potato at dinner one night. When her grandfather later found the potato in the garbage, he forced Lee to eat it, even though it was covered with garbage. He then took Lee into the bathroom, stripped her from the waist down, and beat her with a belt so severely that she was unable to attend school the next day. (T668)

At the age of thirteen, Lee was raped, impregnated, and forced to live at a home for unwed mothers. The baby was put up for adoption and, at the grandmother's insistence, the grandfather reluctantly allowed Lee to return home. Lee ran away from home when the abuse continued. Her grandmother died shortly thereafter and her grandfather placed her in a juvenile home.

(T670) Lee was very close to her brother Keith. When Keith died of cancer at age twenty-one, Lee was shattered. (T673)

By age fourteen, Lee was deeply involved in substance abuse. (T671) At the age of fifteen, Lee was homeless and lived in the woods. She lived in abandoned cars and took showers at friends' houses. She was able to stay in school for almost a year, but eventually had to drop out. (T670-71) When she was sixteen, Lee swore off drugs for good. (T671) The only substance that she abused from that point forward was alcohol, primarily beer. (T671) Wuornos was probably an alcoholic for most of her life. (T671-72)

Lee began prostituting her body by the age of sixteen.

(T671) During her career as a prostitute, Wuornos was attacked many times by her clients. On three occasions, she attempted to fend off her attacker using mace. All three times, the men used the mace on Wuornos, raped her, and left her in the woods for dead. (T672) Once, Wuornos was actually gang-raped. (T672)

After her arrest, Lee studied theology and psychology and took many self-help courses. (T673-74) Although she never took lessons, Lee became quite an artist. (T674) She also wrote poetry. (T674) Although Lee finally found Jesus Christ, she is still no angel.

Arlene Pralle followed Lee's plight in the media. Through divine intervention, Pralle wrote Lee following her arrest.

Pralle and her husband developed a relationship with Lee that became closer every day. (T682-83) Eventually, the Pralle's

adopted Lee. Pralle found Lee a loving, caring, and very sensitive human being. (T705-6) Pralle accepted the fact that Wuornos killed the men, but under extenuating circumstances. (T706) Pralle admitted that, as a Christian, she was steadfastly opposed to the death penalty in all cases. (T706) Pralle also admitted that she had attained a certain amount of notoriety as a result of her relationship with Lee Wuornos. (T706-7) She had appeared on several television shows and was paid only for one interview in the amount of \$7,500.00. (T707)

Arlene Pralle had observed great changes in Lee since their first meeting. If Ms. Pralle had approached Lee a year before the trial and requested her aid in locating Siems' body, Lee would have cursed her and refused. (T674-75) Right before trial, Lee voluntarily offered to show Officer Tilley where to find Siems' body. Since she was unsure of Tilley's credentials, Pralle expressed her concern. Lee reassured Pralle saying:

Arlene, he has an honest face. I want to help the Siems family. John, you go out and get the map and I'll do as best I can to show you where the body was.

(T675-76)

Pralle also noted Lee's willingness to listen to criticism without losing her temper as she had in the past. Pralle perceived a significant change in Lee's attitude in a few short months. (T676-77) Pralle noticed that Lee had become verbally and physically aggressive less often. Additionally, Pralle noticed that it took much more to provoke Lee. (T697-98) Pralle saw "great growth" in Lee. (T677) Wuornos took total

responsibility for her actions. Lee told Pralle that she could not handle the guilt anymore. She had frequent nightmares.

(T677) During almost every jail visit, Lee would cry and say:

I don't know how I can go on like this. I am so sorry for what I have done. I hate myself.

(T678) Lee asked Pralle how she could love her after what she had done. Pralle reassured Lee that Jesus had forgiven her, but Lee could not forgive herself. (T678) Pralle explained that she and her husband planned to seek professional, Christian counseling for Lee, if she received a life sentence. Lee was receptive to this idea, as was the prison. (T685)

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