IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE DEC 3 1993 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_______

AILEEN CAROL WUORNOS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 81,059

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARION/CITRUS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #302015 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The record does not support appellant's assertion that Wuornos and the men were engaged in prostitution, in the first place. Except for Spears, the men were not even naked or unfastened, and there was no evidence of sexual activity.

- 70 -

C. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE THREE CAPITAL FELONIES WERE COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED, AND PREMEDITATED MANNER WITHOUT ANY PRETENSE OF MORAL OR LEGAL JUSTIFICATION

This aggravating circumstance is proper where there is a degree of premeditation exceeding that necessary to support a finding of premeditated first-degree murder. Capehart v. State, 583 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1991). Heightened premeditation will be found when the evidence indicates that the defendant's actions were accomplished in a calculated manner. Capehart v. State, 583 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1991). Calculation consists of a careful plan or prearranged design. Farinas v. State, 569 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 1990). Evidence that a defendant planned in advance to leave no witnesses to a robbery will support a finding that the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated. Remeta v. State, 522 So. 2d 825 (Fla. 1988). That is certainly the case here. In numerous statements Wuornos indicated that she had to kill the victims because if she left a witness she would be caught (R 553; 629). She killed them to silence them (R 640). In furtherance of this plan, she always shot to the midsection so she would know that they had been shot (R 612). Heightened premeditation can be demonstrated by the manner of the killing, such as a killing that is, in effect, an execution where the evidence proves beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant planned or arranged to commit murder before the crime began. Asay v. State, 580 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 1991); Porter v. State, 564 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 1990). That is also the case here. Wuornos took the property of these men, spent it, pawned it, or warehoused it. She planned on leaving no witnesses. She ensured the victims were dead when she left.

Humphreys was not only shot seven times but a final bullet was administered to the back of the head (R 582-84; 588-89). The wound in Burress' back had an upward trajectory (R 555). Spears was shot at least six times (R 596).

The physical evidence is consistent with those parts of Wuornos' confession indicating a pattern of robbery/murder and witness elimination. turned out pockets, taking The and disposing of property, and the sheer number of victims are consistent with Wuornos' plan to eliminate witnesses. Her desire not to leave anyone who could identify her, the number of bullets the shot to the victim's the victims, and head, is in inconsistent with her contention that she acted in self-defense. Wuornos' tangential assertion that she acted in self-defense is irreconcilable with the other facts proven and the lower court was not required to accept this version. Scott v. State, 494 So. 2d 1134 (Fla. 1986).

The defendant in *Cannady v. State*, 427 So. 2d 723 (Fla. 1983), was not involved in a pattern or program of robbery/murder with an avowed intent to leave no witness alive. Unlike the situation in *Crump v. State*, 622 So. 2d 963 (Fla. 1993), Wuornos carried a .22 and intended to leave no witnesses to a robbery. *Crump* involved no subsidiary felony. Crump claimed an argument had broken out which was not contradicted by other statements. In *Clark v. State*, 609 So. 2d 513 (Fla. 1992), it was not even the defendant, but another who had invited the victim along. There was no evidence that Clark preplanned the killing or arranged to have the victim accompany the group so he could be taken to an isolated area and murdered.

With the exception of Spears, Wuornos' victims were found fully clothed with no evidence of sexual activity. They were older and not likely to be missed. Their pockets were ransacked and property taken. They were either shot numerous times or shot in a vital area to ensure death. The inescapable conclusion is that the majority of victims were good samaritans like Bobby Copas who had the misfortune to give a lift to a highway woman, determined to leave no witness behind.

D. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE MURDER OF CHARLES HUMPHREYS WAS HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL

What is intended to be included by this aggravating circumstance are those capital crimes where the actual commission of the capital felony was accompanied by additional acts that set the crime apart from the norm of capital felonies, for instance, the conscienceless or pitiless crime that is unnecessarily torturous to the victim. *Douglas v. State*, 575 So. 2d 165 (Fla. 1991).

Evidence of considerable physical pain suffered by a victim is relevant in determining whether the killing was heinous, atrocious and cruel. *Gilliam v. State*, 582 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 1991). Humphreys' suffering is apparent from Wuornos' own statement that she shot him in the head to put him out of his "misery." (R 649). *See, Squires v. State*, 450 So. 2d 208 (Fla. 1984). The only wound that would have quickly incapacitated Humphreys was the one to the back of the head (R 588-89). From Wuornos' statement it is evident that this was the *last* wound inflicted. Before his death Humphreys suffered through six gunshot wounds, none of which

- 73 -

would have been instantly fatal (R 582-84; 588-89). Clearly, this was physical torture. Also, a killing preceded by a battery may be found to be heinous, atrocious and cruel. See, Mendyk v. State, 545 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 1989); Lightbourne v. State, 438 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1983). As Judge Sawaya noted, Humphreys had a donut abrasion on the right side of the abdomen consistent with a gun barrel being shoved into the body (R 591). He also had a wound to the upper part of the right arm and wrist (R 587-588). Not to mention he was shot twice in the arm (R 589-90).

The mind set or mental anguish of a victim also is an important factor in determining whether a killing is especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Harvey v. State, 529 So. 2d 1083 (Fla. 1988). A victim's knowledge of impending death may support a finding that the killing was especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel, even if the death itself was quick. Bruno v. State, 574 So. 2d 76 (Fla. 1991); Douglas v. State, 575 So. 2d 165 (Fla. 1991). Ιt is known from Wuornos' statements that she always shot to the midsection so she would know they had been shot (R 612) and engaged in "immediate firing" (R 692). It is logical that Wuornos' first strike on Humphreys was at close range in the car and to the chest or abdomen, since she was concerned with immediate incapacitation. Having accomplished that it would have been logical for her to prod Humphreys from the car with the barrel of her gun. Humphreys' actions from that point on evince a great fear of impending death. He either ran or turned from her to have received two bullets to the back. At some point she got him in the torso area again. He was shot twice in the arm.

Most telling is the medical examiner's testimony that his wounds were consistent with someone twisting and turning while either standing or lying on the ground (R 589-90). This is not a case of near instantaneous death by gunfire. Cf. Watts v. State, 593 So. 2d 198 (Fla. 1992); Williams v. State, 574 So. 2d 136 (Fla. 1991). Humphreys' death was drawn out and the bruises would indicate a prior struggle. Humphreys' twisting and turning indicate a clear apprehension that he was about to be murdered. Cf. Robinson v. State, 574 So. 2d 108 (Fla. 1991). This murder by shooting is hardly ordinary and is set apart from the norm of premeditated murders and is heinous, atrocious or cruel. Humphreys was an HRS investigator in child protective services (R 531). He had been in Wildwood on an investigation (R 532). He had a family (R 531-32). Nothing indicated an intent to have sex with Wuornos. It is not hard to envision his horror when by some stroke of misfortune he found himself with a murderous highway woman, intent on killing him, with a small caliber weapon. Such is the fabric of HAC.

The cases cited by appellant involve only single shots or immediately disabling shots. Wuornos indicated she was angry at Humphreys because she didn't believe he was a police officer (R 650). She seemed to reserve her greatest fury for him as evidenced by the large number of rounds extended. It wasn't particularly magnanimous of her to try and put him out of his misery. Wuornos was no angel of death.

E. MITIGATING EVIDENCE

At the outset, it should be noted that appellant concedes that the evidence concerning some of the nonstatutory mitigating circumstances is in conflict and that much of the mitigating evidence was hearsay.

The defense must identify for the court the specific nonstatutory mitigating circumstances it is attempting to establish. Luras v. State, 568 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1990). Defense Counsel argued to the jury that Wuornos was accepting responsibility for her actions and was not saying she committed the crimes because she had been abused, raped, had a baby at thirteen, or was an alcoholic (R 852).

The fact that Wuornos was abandoned by her mother when she infant after a neglectful first few months is was an not mitigating in itself when you consider the fact that she did not go to a home or to strangers but was raised by her own grandparents. The claim of abuse in the grandparents' home was simply not supported by the evidence. Alternatively, the court found that even considering such alleged abuse, the aggravating factors overwhelmingly outweighed the evidence presented in mitigation (R 305-08, 463-64, SR 9-10). The fact that Wuornos was raped and impregnated at the age of thirteen was offered incidentally as part of the history of abuse wherein she was eventually placed in a juvenile home. Should this court take judicial notice of the case of Wuornos v. State, Case Number 79,484, as requested by appellant, it will see that Wuornos has a history of claiming rape and had even contended she was raped by a jail transport officer. The connection between her being a young

unwed mother and the murders in this case is too tenuous to form a basis for mitigation, in any event. Grief at the loss of her brother is also too attenuated to form a basis for mitigation. Wuornos stopped taking drugs at age sixteen (R 671). It is clear that when a defendant's actions in committing murder were not significantly influenced by her childhood, a history of abuse or a difficult childhood need not give rise to a mitigating circumstance. Lara v. State, 464 So. 2d 1173 (Fla. 1985); Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987). That Wuornos had consumed some alcoholic beverages on or about the date of the commission of the offenses was found not to have lead to extreme mental or emotional disturbance, thus, the tangential fact that she was, coincidentally, an alcoholic, hardly mitigates her crimes, especially in view of a clearly established robbery motive.

A review of the record reflects that the thrust of Wuornos¹ penalty phase defense was her bad start in life and the fact that she had found God, was now taking responsibility for her actions, and had changed. What is now offered as direct mitigation were only historical incidences below pertaining to her direct claims of abuse or religious conversion, which were fully considered by the trial court.

It would be wholly inappropriate for this court to take judicial notice of the mitigation found by another circuit court in a completely different case. Wuornos' penalty phase defense of a borderline personality disorder did not work to relieve her of a death sentence in the Volusia County case, in any event. Such defense was not offered in the present case. A new penalty

- 77 -

phase strategy of taking responsibility for her actions was formulated in this case. Wuornos obviously cannot reap the benefit of combining distinct strategies. That one doctor may have found her borderline does not mean that such diagnosis should obtain in the present case without evidentiary offering or proof. In any event, such diagnosis was insufficient to reach even statutory mitigation level and likewise should not relieve her of the sentence imposed in this separate case.

Even in the event any aggravators were inappropriately found, considering the weak mitigation found, along with any further weaker mitigation now postulated, death is still the appropriate sentence and any error is harmless. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

VIII. CONSTITUTIONALITY OF SECTION 921.141, FLORIDA STATUTES. Heinous, Atrocious or Cruel Jury Instruction

The defense argued below in regard to the murder of Charles Humphreys simply that the heinous, atrocious, or cruel factor was inapplicable to this crime (R 755-765). No attack was made on the heinousness instruction below on the basis of vagueness or that it relieves the state of the burden of proving the elements of the circumstances as developed in case law. Where the instruction itself is not attacked either by submitting a limiting instruction or making an objection to the instruction as worded, this issue is procedurally barred. *Beltran-Lopez v. State*, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S469 (Fla. Sept. 2, 1993). In any event, this court upheld the full *State v. Dixon*, 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973), instruction in *Preston v. State*, 607 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 1992).

- 78 -

Cold, Calculated and Premeditated Jury Instruction.

Again, the instruction on this factor was argued against on grounds of inapplicability. This issue is also waived. No party may urge as error on appeal the giving of or the failure to give an instruction unless he objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.390(d). The instruction on this factor is adequate pursuant to *Arave v. Creech*, 113 S.Ct. 1534 (1993), in any event.

Felony Murder.

Neither the circumstance or the instruction was challenged below and this issue is waived. The language of this circumstance could not be more precise, in any event.

Majority Verdicts.

No argument on the grounds now raised was made below. This issue is barred. A simple majority recommendation is sufficient to recommend the death penalty. *Brown v. State*, 565 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 1990).

Aggravating Factors as Elements of Crime found by Majority of Jury.

This issue was never argued and is procedurally barred. The argument that aggravating factors are elements of the crime is without merit. See, Hildwin v. State, 490 U.S. 638 (1989).

Advisory Role of Jury.

This claim was not argued below and is barred. It is without merit in any event. The jury was instructed that "the court may impose a sentence of death following a jury's advisory sentence of life only where the facts suggesting a sentence of death are so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ," in accordance with *Tedder v. State*, 322 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1975) (R 881).

Counsel.

Wuornos hired the attorney of her choice in this case and has no standing to complain of court appointed counsel. This issue is procedurally barred as well.

Trial Judge.

This claim was never argued below and is barred. This judge was aware of the *Tedder* standard and acted in accordance with it. Any error is harmless.

Florida Judicial System.

This claim was never argued below and is procedurally barred. The notion that justice should be suspended for Wuornos until there is parity in the election of judges is ludicrous in any event. She has no entitlement to any particular judge. Society is hardly benefitted when a condemned murderer is utilized as a vehicle for social change.

Appellate Judge.

The specific complaints now raised were not argued below and are barred. Aggravating factors were appropriately applied to Wuornos, despite any evolving case law. Appellate reweighing is not required. *See, Espinosa v. Florida,* 112 S.Ct. 2926 (1992). A harmless error analysis is sufficient to cure errors. Reweighing is also unnecessary where this court undertakes a proportionality analysis.

Procedural Technicalities.

The practice of procedurally defaulting claims not properly raised is authorized by the United States Supreme Court. See, Wainwright v. Sykes, 433 U.S. 72 (1977). The purpose is readily apparent in this boilerplate claim raised by appellant. Not even this issue was preserved below.

Tedder.

This issue is procedurally barred. *Tedder* has been consistently applied. Its standard was applied by the judge in this case.

Other Problems with the Statute.

The remaining issues are not properly preserved. In any event, they are either without merit or have been previously rejected.

Appellee would suggest that these claims are not raised in good faith. The practice of raising unpreserved claims under one boilerplate point and not citing to where it was raised or rejected is vexatious and unnecessarily time consuming for the answering party. Appellee requests that this point be stricken.

CONCLUSION

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